STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

ORIGINAL

Certiorari to Darlington County

Honorable G. Thomas Cooper, Circuit Court Judge

LARRY JAMES TYLER,

PETITIONER

V.

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

RESPONDENT

APPELLATE CASE NO 2016-002364

RECEIVED
OCT 07 2019
SC Court of Appeals

BRIEF OF PETITIONER

VICTOR R SEEGER
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER

ISSUE PRESENTED

Was trial counsel ineffective in failing to move to sever the trial of Petitioner's charge for second-degree sexual exploitation of a minor from the trial of his remaining charges?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

During the February 2013 term the Darlington County Grand Jury indicted Petitioner for sexual exploitation of a minor, in the second degree; criminal solicitation of a minor; disseminating harmful material to minors; and contributing to the delinquency of a minor. App. 273 - 284.

On February 25 – 27, 2013, Petitioner proceeded to trial before the Honorable Paul M. Burch and a jury in Darlington County. App. 1. Richard Jones represented Petitioner. Id. John Holt and Patti Parker represented the state. Id.

Petitioner was found guilty as charged. App. 186, l. 17 – 187, l. 21. Judge Burch sentenced Petitioner to eight years' imprisonment for disseminating harmful material to a minor; sexual exploitation of a minor, second degree; criminal solicitation of a minor; and three years' imprisonment for contributing to the delinquency of a minor. App. 194, ll. 3 – 13. All of the sentences were concurrent. Id.

The Court of Appeals affirmed Petitioner's convictions in State v. Tyler, 2015-UP-025 (January 14, 2015) rejecting his argument that the trial court should have directed verdicts in his favor. App. 284 – 285; App. 265.

On January 2, 2015, Petitioner filed an application for post-conviction relief (PCR). App. 196 - 210. The state filed a return on May 15, 2015. App 211 – 214.

An evidentiary hearing was held on July 18, 2016 before the Honorable G. Thomas Cooper. App. 215. Lance S. Boozer represented Petitioner. Id. J. Rutledge Johnson represented the state. Id.

On November 4, 2016, the PCR judge filed an order denying Petitioner relief from his convictions and sentences. App. 264 – 272. He found that Petitioner failed to meet his burden of proving that trial counsel was ineffective because there was “no reasonable basis to make a motion

to sever the charges.” App. 268. He also found that Petitioner could not show how he was prejudiced because the trial judge cured any potential bias of the jury that consolidation of the charges may have caused when he instructed the jury to, “reach separate verdicts on each and every charge.” App. 271.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

Our standard of review in PCR cases depends on the specific issue before us. We defer to a PCR court's findings of fact and will uphold them if there is evidence in the record to support them. Sellner v. State, 416 S.C. 606, 610, 787 S.E.2d 525, 527 (2016) (citing Jordan v. State, 406 S.C. 443, 448, 752 S.E.2d 538, 540 (2013)). We review questions of law de novo, with no deference to trial courts. Sellner, 416 S.C. at 610, 787 S.E.2d at 527 (citing Jamison v. State, 410 S.C. 456, 465, 765 S.E.2d 123, 127 (2014)).

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

In 2011, Petitioner lived with his mother, Ernestine Witherspoon, in Darlington County. App. 274; App. 31, ll. 13 – 25. From July 1, 2011 to September 24, 2011, Doris Brown, the grandmother of the twelve-year-old female complaining witness (hereinafter “Minor”) and her younger sister, Jasmine M., took the girls to the home where Petitioner lived with his mother, to visit. App. 44, ll. 8 – 18. During one visit, he gave Minor a cell phone with the “odd” photos and draft messages on it. App. 159, ll. 19 – 24; App. 163, ll. 1 – 19.

On their way home in the car, Minor’s sister said there was a picture of a naked man on the phone. It was later found that the photographs on the phone depicted people in their underwear, not naked people. App. 51, ll. 2 – 56, ll. 7. Ms. Brown took the phone back to Petitioner. App. 43, ll. 21 – 46, ll. 13. Petitioner argued that when he gave the phone to Minor, he was unaware of the draft text messages or photos on it. App. 163, l. 20 – 164, l. 21. Trial counsel argued at trial that Petitioner’s conduct towards Minor and her sister was no illegal, but “odd” and that the state was trying to criminalize Petitioner’s odd behavior. App. 159, l. 19 – 160, l. 1.

Tyquan Brown was *an adult, male cousin* of Minor. App. 68, ll. 3 – 12. He visited Petitioner at his home and Petitioner gave Tyquan the cell phone in question. App. 68, l. 25 – 69, l. 14. In addition to the photographs of people in their underwear, Tyquan noticed some drafted text messages on the phone that had not been sent. App. 70, l. 5 – 72, l. 15. Those messages purportedly consisted of Petitioner attempting to communicate with Minor. *Id.* Again, the state attempted to criminalize Petitioner’s “odd” behavior. App. 159, l. 19 – 160, l. 1.

Tyquan called Minor’s mother, told her what he found, and gave her the phone. App. 72, l. 12 – 73, l. 23. Petitioner argued at trial that the fact that he gave the cell phone still containing the

draft text messages to Tyquan supported Petitioner's defense that he did not give the phone to Minor as a means of communicating those draft messages to her. App. 163, l. 20 – 164, l. 21.

Georgita Brown, Minor's mother, saw the pictures and the draft messages on the phone. App. 80, l. 5 – 81, l. 12. She called the police, met Deputy Eric Hodges, and gave him the cell phone. App. 81, l. 16 – 83, l. 9.

Petitioner was arrested by Deputy Hodges for driving under a suspended license. App. 89, ll. 2 – 9. Hodges then told Petitioner, after advising him of his Miranda, 384 U.S. 436 (1966) rights, that he was working investigating the allegations by Minor. Id. Deputy Hodges obtained a search warrant for Petitioner's residence and his car. App. 90, ll. 17 – 21. Hodges found "pictures that were off the computer and off... some other phones." App. 90, ll. 22 – 24.

Deputy Russ Harrell searched Petitioner's computers, cell phones, and email accounts as well. App. 107, ll. 19 – 22. More photographs were found, one of which, on a Yahoo! email account, depicted an unrelated minor engaged in a sex act. Id. Petitioner was arrested and charged with criminal solicitation of a minor, sexual exploitation of a minor in the second degree, contributing to the delinquency of a minor, and disseminating harmful material to minors. App. 6, l. 16 – 7, l. 5.

A large number of legal photographs were found on Petitioner's computer. App. 90, ll. 22 – 24. Minor and her sister testified that Petitioner took photographs of them; however, *none* of the photos of Minor or her sister depicted any illegal activity. App. 52, ll. 17 – 25; App. 159, ll. 19 – 23; App. 163, ll. 1 – 19. The only photo that constituted illegal conduct was the anal sex photograph of the unrelated minor found on a Yahoo! email account. App. 107, ll. 19 – 22. That photo had no connection to Minor and there was no evidence presented that Petitioner was the one who took the photo of the unrelated minor.

The solicitation of a minor, disseminating harmful material, and contributing to delinquency charges against Petitioner arose from Petitioner's "odd" behavior towards Minor and her sister. App. 261, ll. 5 – 8. The sexual exploitation of a minor in the second-degree charge arose from a photograph of an unrelated minor found on a Yahoo! email account associated with Petitioner. Id.

Prior to trial, defense counsel moved to exclude the photograph of the unrelated minor from the forty-one photos allegedly seized from Petitioner's email account. App. 21, l. 7 – 22, l. 10. He argued that that photograph was "significantly different" from the others. Id.

The state responded that that photograph "showed sex" but the "young lady's face was not visible." The solicitor said: "I took that off and inserted the one from the Yahoo account which was visible." However, he reduced all of the photos to thumbnail size on a disk. App. 22, l. 11 – 23, l. 24.

Although that photograph was not evidence in the state's case against Petitioner regarding Minor, it was evidence of Petitioner's sexual exploitation charge. As a result of trial counsel's failure to move to sever Petitioner's cases, that photograph was admitted into evidence, and was used to color his "odd" conduct towards Minor and her sister as illegal conduct. App. 32, ll. 2 – 14.

Minor testified at Petitioner's trial that she and her sister went with their grandmother to visit the mother of Petitioner at her home where he lived. App. 52, ll. 3 – 16. Minor spoke to Petitioner's "odd" yet legal activity when she testified that Petitioner took photographs of her and her sister with his cell phone. App. 52, ll. 17 – 25. Minor identified the cell phone Petitioner gave her and said when they got in the car with their grandmother, they noticed pictures on the phone. App. 53, l. 23 – 55, l. 13. One photograph was a girl in a bikini and the other one was of Petitioner with blue underwear. App. 51, ll. 2 – 56, ll. 7. Minor did not read or see any of the text messages.

App. 59, ll. 1 – 60, ll. 8. There was no evidence presented at trial that Petitioner ever told Minor or her sister that there were draft messages stored on the phone for them to read.

Deputy Russ Harrell seized Petitioner's computer, hard drive, and several cell phones. App. 98, ll. 18 – 99, ll. 25. In his testimony at trial, Harrell went over the unsent drafted text messages concerning the minor that were drafted on one of the cell phones but not sent. App. 101, ll. 11 – 104, ll. 16.

Harrell then discussed photographs taken from Petitioner's desktop computer. Most of the images were of young girls under ten years of age in "unnatural positions." App. 107, ll. 16 – 18. One particularly harmful photo showed a young girl in a kneeling position and anal sex was being performed on her. App. 107, ll. 19 – 22.

The state's case was oriented toward convincing the jury that Petitioner was the type of person who would commit the alleged crimes. The state started in its opening statement by mentioning how Petitioner was indicted on "all sorts of charges," but accidentally admitted that the photograph of the unrelated minor concerned, "*a whole 'nother set of charges.*" App. 31, l. 4 – 34, l. 16. (emphasis added) The state then implored the jury to "consider the facts as a whole," in other words to use evidence from once set of charges to convict Petitioner on the other set. App. 37, ll. 5 – 21. Moreover, the state even cautioned the jury that the defense would urge the jury "to isolate things." Id.

In its closing, the state attempted to convince the jury that Petitioner's "odd" behavior was evidence of criminal activity. The solicitor told the jury that the messages drafted but never sent on the phone belied Petitioner's intent to sexually assault Minor because, according to the state, Petitioner was the *type* of person to do that. App. 149, l. 17 – 150, l. 17. The state argued that Petitioner was unlike "the average person in Darlington County." App. 151, ll. 7 – 14. The solicitor

even castigated Petitioner as an immoral *type* of person and that the, “common sense people from Darlington County,” must convict Petitioner because of his “odd” conduct. App. 152, l. 12 – 153, l. 10.

Trial counsel was forced to try to mitigate the impact of the Yahoo! email account photograph of the unrelated minor engaged in anal sex during his closing statement. App. 165, l. 14 – 168, l. 1. Trial counsel’s argument at closing was that Petitioner did not seek out the photographs sent to his email account because they were “SPAM” sent to him without his permission. Id.

While the judge later instructed the jury to convict of each conviction separately, the state’s opening directly undermined that instruction and rendered it ineffectual for purposes of curing the prejudice to Petitioner of trial counsel’s failure to move to sever his cases. App. 178, ll. 7 – 10; App. 271.

The jury returned verdicts of guilty as indicted. App. 186, l. 17 – 187, l. 21. Judge Burch sentenced Petitioner to eight years’ imprisonment for disseminating harmful material to a minor; sexual exploitation of a minor in the second degree; and criminal solicitation of a minor; and he sentenced Petitioner to three years’ imprisonment for contributing to the delinquency of a minor. App. 194, ll. 3 – 13. All the sentences ran concurrent. Id.

At his PCR hearing, Petitioner alleged trial counsel provided ineffective assistance of counsel because he failed to make a motion to sever the sexual exploitation of a minor charge from his remaining charges. App. 231, ll. 21 – 239, ll. 20.

During the PCR hearing, trial counsel described the impact of the Yahoo! email photo as, “an awful picture.” App. 253, ll. 12 – 14. During cross-examination, trial counsel admitted “perhaps” there was a reason to make a motion to sever and that, “perhaps one [charge] would lead the jury to believe the other [charges].” App. 259, ll. 14 – 21.

Trial counsel explained how the two sets of charges arose out of different facts, “[I]n my mind the exploitation [charge] dealt with the picture of the young lady involved in a sexual act. The disseminating [harmful material to a minor], the solicitation of a minor and contributing [to the delinquency of a minor] all dealt with [Minor].” App. 260, l. 18 – 261, l. 11.

On November 4, 2016, the PCR judge filed an order denying Petitioner relief. App. 264 – 272. He found that Petitioner failed to meet his burden of proving that trial counsel was ineffective because there was “no reasonable basis to make a motion to sever the charges.” App. 268. He also found that Petitioner could not show how he was prejudiced because the trial judge cured any potential bias of the jury that consolidation of the charges may have caused when he instructed the jury to, “reach separate verdicts on each and every charge.” App. 271.

ARGUMENT

Trial counsel was ineffective in failing to move to sever the trial of Petitioner's charge for second-degree sexual exploitation of a minor from the trial of his remaining charges.

Discussion

“Where the offenses charged in separate indictments are of the same general nature involving connected transactions closely related in kind, place and character, the trial judge has the power, in his discretion, to order the indictments tried together if the defendant's substantive rights would not be prejudiced.” State v. Smith, 322 S.C. 107, 109, 470 S.E.2d 364, 365 (1996). Petitioner's sexual exploitation of a minor charge and his remaining charges were not “connected transactions closely related” in any manner. App. 260, l. 18 – 261, l. 11. Therefore, trial counsel's failure to move to sever Petitioner's cases prejudiced him because it allowed the state to present evidence from two unrelated sets of charges and biased the jury into convicting Petitioner by using evidence from one set of charges to convict him on the other set. App. 259, ll. 14 – 21.

When ineffective assistance of counsel is alleged as a ground for relief, the applicant must prove that “counsel's conduct so undermined the proper functioning of the adversarial process that the trial cannot be relied upon as having produced a just result.” Strickland, 466 U.S. at 686; Butler v. State, 286 S.C. 441, 334 S.E.2d 813 (1985). First, the applicant must prove that counsel's performance was deficient. Under this prong, attorney performance is measured by its “reasonableness under professional norms.” Id. at 117, 386 S.E.2d at 625 (citing Strickland, 466 U.S. 668 (1984)). Second, counsel's deficient performance must have prejudiced the applicant such that “there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different.” Id. at 117 – 118, 386 S.E.2d at 625.

In State v. Middleton, 288 S.C. 21, 339 S.E.2d 692 (1986), Middleton was indicted separately for two counts of murder and criminal sexual conduct, and one count of attempted armed robbery, aggravated assault, and aggravated assault and battery. Id. The state argued for consolidation because the crimes were all part of a single crime spree and that the same knife was used for both sets of charges. Id. at 23, 399 S.E.2d at 693.

Our Supreme Court held that Middleton's charges failed to meet the requirements for consolidation because, "*the crimes did not arise out of a single chain of circumstances, and required different evidence for proof.*" Id. (emphasis added); see also State v. Tate, 286 S.C. 462, 334 S.E.2d 289 (1985) (finding joint trial on identical but unrelated forgeries violated defendant's right to a fair trial).¹

In State v. McGaha, 404 S.C. 289, 744 S.E.2d 602 (Ct. App. 2013) this Court found that the trial court properly consolidated McGaha's trials. In that case this Court applied the test from State v. Harris, 351 S.C. 642, 652, 572 S.E.2d 267, 272 (2002) that stated a trial court may try consolidate trials together, "where they (1) arise out of a single chain of circumstances, (2) are proved by the same evidence, (3) are of the same general nature, **and** (4) no [substantive] right of the defendant has been prejudiced." Id.; McGaha, at 293-294, 744 S.E.2d at 604. (emphasis added) This test is conjunctive in nature and all elements must be present to consolidate separate trials.

McGaha was alleged to have committed criminal sexual conduct, in the first degree, and a lewd act upon a child, on two minor sisters. McGaha, at 291, 744 S.E.2d at 603. The Court found that the trial court properly held that McGaha's abuse of both minors stemmed from a

¹ Cf. State v. Woomer, 276 S.C. 258, 277 S.E.2d 696 (1981) (finding it proper to try together all crimes arising from a single uninterrupted crime spree).

single chain of circumstances. Id. at 295, 744 S.E.2d at 605. The charges arose from a single chain of circumstances because,

McGaha gained access to the children because the grandmother allowed him to live in their play room. McGaha used this access on multiple occasions to take each child from her bed to the play room, where he molested [them]. Dana was eight and Elaina was seven when the abuse ended. The time periods of the abuse overlapped almost precisely—McGaha abused Dana between March 2009 and August 2010 and Elaina between May 2009 and August 2010. Their similar ages and the similar duration of the abuse supports the trial court's emphasis on its finding that they “had the same relationship to” McGaha. *The molestation of each child during the same time period and in the same location, accomplished through the same access to them, established a sufficiently connected chain of circumstances to satisfy this element.*

State v. McGaha, 404 S.C. 289, 295, 744 S.E.2d 602, 605. (emphasis added)

In McGaha, this Court also found that the charges regarding both minors were proved by the same evidence. Id. The lower court held, “a substantial portion of the testimony the State presented at trial to prove the crimes against one child was the same evidence it would have used to prove the crimes against the other.” Id. at 297, 744 S.E.2d at 606.

To determine prejudice against McGaha created by consolidating his trials, the test was, “whether evidence of one or more charges would be admissible in a trial involving only the other charge.” Id. at 298, 744 S.E.2d at 606. In McGaha, the state argued that evidence of McGaha’s molestation of either child would be admissible in both cases under Rule 404(b), SCRE, as proof of a common plan or scheme. For the evidence to be admissible in separate trials for the purpose of showing a common scheme or plan, the state would have to establish a logical connection between the crimes by showing a “close degree of similarity.” Id. at 298, 744 S.E.2d at 607.

Petitioner’s case is unlike McGaha on each of the aforementioned points. Petitioner’s two sets of charges were not “from a single chain of circumstances.” App. 260, 1. 18 – 261, 1. 11. The

photograph discovered on the Yahoo! email account that depicted a minor engaged in a sex act was in no way related to the charges against Petitioner regarding Minor. App. 261, ll. 5 – 8.

Petitioner gained access to Minor and the Yahoo! email account photograph via different means. Family members brought the minor to where Petitioner resided, and the photograph was ostensibly sent to Petitioner from another email account. App. 44, ll. 6 – 18; App. 165, ll. 14 – 25. Moreover, unlike in McGaha, there is nothing in the record to show that the time periods of the two sets of charges overlapped.

Petitioner's charges are not of a similar nature such that they should not be tried together. See Wilkerson v. State, 728 N.E.2d 239 (Ind. App. 2000). The elements of the two sets of charges in Petitioner's case were different. See: S.C. Code Ann. §§ 16-15-0385(A)(B); 16-15-0342; 16-17-0490. See also: S.C. Code Ann. § 16-15-0405(A).

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