**ORIGINAL**

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Court of Appeals

---

CERTIORARI TO DARLINGTON COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas  
G. Thomas Cooper, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

---

Appellate Case No. 2016-002364

---

Larry James Tyler,

State of South Carolina,

v.

Petitioner,

Respondent.

**RECEIVED**  
JAN 06 2020  
SC Court of Appeals

---

**BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

---

ALAN WILSON  
Attorney General

MEGAN HARRIGAN JAMESON  
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General

JOHNNY ELLIS JAMES JR.  
S.C. Bar No. 101260  
Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549  
Columbia, South Carolina 29211  
(803) 734-3737

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Court of Appeals

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

## ARGUMENT

**THE PCR COURT PROPERLY DENIED RELIEF BECAUSE COUNSEL HAD NO BASIS TO MOVE TO SEVER THE CHARGES WHERE THE FACTS PROVIDING FOR EACH CHARGE WERE PART OF THE SAME *RES GESTAE*, WERE PROBATIVE OF EACH CRIME CHARGED, WHERE TYLER WAS DEPRIVED OF NO RIGHTS AS A CONSEQUENCE OF THE CONSOLIDATED TRIAL, AND WHERE TYLER HAS NOT SHOWN THAT HAD THE SEVERENCE BEEN GRANTED, HE WOULD HAVE BEEN ACQUITTED ON ONE OF THE CHARGES.**

The PCR court properly denied post-conviction relief because when a single investigation from a single incident results in the discovery of multiple crimes of the same general nature, they are properly tried together.

- a. **Counsel had no valid basis on which to seek severance of the charges because law enforcement discovered the child pornography in the course of the same investigation into solicitation of a minor, and because the child pornography serves as evidence to show motive, intent, and rebut Tyler's arguments that the solicitation of Victim was a mistake or accident.**

“Charges can be joined in the same indictment and tried together where they (1) arise out of a single chain of circumstances, (2) are proved by the same evidence, (3) are of the same general nature, and (4) no real right of the defendant has been prejudiced.” State v. Beekman, 415 S.C. 632, 636, 785 S.E.2d 202, 204 (2016). Even where charges may not rise out of a single, isolated incident, the Supreme Court has “allowed joinder when the crimes involved connected transactions closely related in kind, place, and character.” Id., 415 S.C. at 637, 785 S.E.2d at 205 (quoting State v. Cutro, 365 S.C. 366, 374, 618 S.E.2d 890, 894 (2005)); see also State v. Rice, 368 S.C. 610, 614, 629 S.E.2d 393, 395 (Ct. App. 2006) (“Offenses are considered to be of the same general nature where they are interconnected.”). Courts should avoid the “inflexible application” of the rule that charges must arise out of the same set of circumstances to warrant joinder; if “it does not appear that any real right of the defendant has been jeopardized, [then] it

would be a refinement not demanded by the law or by justice to require in all instances a separate trial[.]” City of Greenville v. Chapman, 210 S.C. 157, 161-62, 41 S.E.2d 865, 867 (1947).

That joinder of related offenses may result in the introduction of evidence that is relevant to one or more, but not all, of the charges, is not in and of itself an adequate basis for severance of charges into multiple trials. Beekman, 415 S.C. at 638-39, 785 S.E.2d at 205-06 (citing State v. Tucker, 324 S.C. 155, 478 S.E.2d 260 (1996)).

This Court’s treatment of the facts in State v. Rice is instructive. In Rice, the defendant was separately indicted for trafficking in cocaine and murder—wholly unrelated crimes, though the former all too often leads to the latter. 368 S.C. at 615, 629 S.E.2d at 396. “The cocaine trafficking charge arose out of a traffic stop the police set up because they suspected Rice of Johnson’s murder. The police found the gun believed to be the murder weapon in the same search that produced the cocaine that forms the basis of the cocaine trafficking charge.” Id. The Court of Appeals further observed the motive for the murder related to the victim’s theft of drugs and money from Rice, and that their relationship was mostly based on selling drugs. Id. Consequently, the Court of Appeals held that “[t]he information regarding the cocaine trafficking was relevant to show the complete, whole, unfragmented story[.]” and found Rice was not prejudiced by the joinder of the charges. Id., 368 S.C. at 616, 629 S.E.2d at 396 (quoting State v. Adams, 322 S.C. 114, 122, 470 S.E.2d 366, 370-71 (1996)).

The charges at issue here are much more closely related and of the same general character than was approved in Rice. Each charge revolves around Tyler’s singular motive: his own sexual gratification at the expense of young girls. The charges against Tyler arose out of the same circumstances—the discovery of solicitous texts on Tyler’s cell phone, which beget search warrants for Tyler’s phone, house, computers, and Yahoo account, the last of which produced the

most explicit photograph known to law enforcement at the time. The same evidence proved each case—the same testimony provides for how law enforcement was led to investigate Tyler and reveal his various illegal actions taken for the purpose of his own sexual gratification. That a grotesque image was discovered on Tyler’s computer as part of the investigation into his solicitation of Victim forms a part of the *res gestae*, of the immediate context through which each of these crimes was inextricably entwined.

Tyler’s own arguments discounting his shutterbug tendencies towards Victim and solicitous texts to the same demonstrate why the explicit photograph on his Yahoo account was relevant to all of the charges brought. The Yahoo photograph provides the context necessary to firmly establish that Tyler’s intent in all of his actions was exploitative and pedophilic, and no mere accidental action upon otherwise suppressed urges. By way of hypothetical, it would not be illegal<sup>1</sup> or untoward for a person to take photographs of an old, ornate, and architecturally distinguished bank on the morning of a beautiful sunrise. However, if that same person shortly thereafter endeavors to rob that bank, the previous act of taking pictures outside is less innocent, and becomes evidence that he or she was, in fact, casing the bank. Similarly, if one keeps a variety of pictures of their (or their friends’ or relatives’) children, they are most likely just keeping pictures of loved ones. However, if one keeps the same pictures alongside photographs of children in implicitly and explicitly sexual circumstances, or in a folder labeled so as to reflect a wretched use, the purpose of keeping the “innocent” pictures is contextually changed, and one may rightly infer that the “innocent” pictures are not so innocently kept, but rather are organized for the purpose of the keeper’s pedophilic sexual gratification. Consequently, the “innocent” pictures taken and stored become probative and relevant to show a common scheme or plan

---

<sup>1</sup> As far as the undersigned is aware.

(sexual interest in girls of a young age), as well as to disprove arguments that explicitly pedophilic materials were acquired by accident, or that solicitous messages were erroneously made available to the minor addressee. See Rule 404(b), SCRE (evidence of other bad acts admissible “to show motive, identity, the existence of a common scheme or plan, the absence of mistake or accident, or intent.”); cf. State v. Wallace, 384 S.C. 428, 433, 683 S.E.2d 275, 278 (2009) (where the similarities between bad acts outweighs the dissimilarities, the bad act evidence is admissible).

Tyler’s effort to distinguish the present matter from State v. McGaha, 404 S.C. 289, 744 S.E.2d 602 (Ct. App. 2013) (see Brief of Petitioner at 12-15), misapprehends joinder analysis and, if accepted as a basis upon which trial counsel could have successfully moved for severance, would provide for an extreme prohibition against joinder against the interests of justice. Tyler argues the crimes charged against him were different, and that the illicit picture from the internet involved a different victim with no relationship to Tyler, such that the charges should have been severed. First, Tyler’s attempt to distinguish his various crimes (disseminating harmful materials to a minor; solicitation of a minor; contributing to the delinquency of a minor; and sexual exploitation of a minor) as inherently different is untethered from the “general nature” analysis provided by the precedents set forth above and the real nature of child sexual abuse and the diverse ways in which it may be effectuated. One may disseminate harmful materials to a minor as part of an effort to successfully solicit sexual acts from them. If one disseminates harmful materials to a minor, they may place that minor themselves into possession of materials which are illegal to possess, thereby contributing to their delinquency.<sup>2</sup> One may disseminate

---

<sup>2</sup> Petitioner’s assertion that S.C. Code Ann. §16-17-490 (contributing to delinquency of a minor) has no regard for sexual activity is particularly absurd. The absence of the word “sex” from the

harmful materials to a minor in order to facilitate the sexual exploitation of that minor; e.g. sending them child pornography in order to obtain comparable materials in return. Soliciting a minor is extremely likely to contribute to their delinquency,<sup>3</sup> and one may solicit a minor using materials which sexually exploit another minor or minors. The determination of whether crimes are proved by the same evidence or whether they are of the same general nature is not a mechanical and elementary comparison of the most basic elements of the crimes in a vacuum, in the vein of a test pursuant to Blockberger v. United States, 284 U.S. 299 (1932) or Murdock v. State, 308 S.C. 143, 417 S.E.2d 543 (1992). The question, as noted in Rice, *supra*, is whether they are interconnected. Tyler's charges collectively form a part of the dread, interconnected web of crimes which define, prohibit, and are intended to *prevent* the grooming, pursuit, and sexual abuse of children.

Second, in Tyler's framing, prosecutions for possession of child pornography sourced from the internet could *never* be joined with any other crime save other charges for possession of child pornography also sourced from the internet. At its core, Tyler's demand for relief would require this Court impose the very sort of inflexible, nonsensical rule rejected in Chapman, which has not heretofore existed, and upon which Counsel could not have known to rely upon in making any arguments at trial.

---

ten scenarios set forth in the statute does not mean that none of them can regard sexual activity. To the contrary, sexually-related illegal activity with respect to a minor may cause or influence the minor to violate the law, turn to the abuser's command and presence as opposed to the parent or guardian, inflict physical or mental harm which produces truancy, engage in prostitution or the production of child pornography, associate with child molesters, habitually use obscene sexual language, and substantially diminish the morals and health of the child. Sexual activity and sexually-related activity directed at minors can, depending on the facts, trigger any or all of the circumstances considered to contribute to the delinquency of a minor.

<sup>3</sup> The prior footnote is, again, here applicable.

Tyler also attempts to shoehorn the present matter into the recent holding of State v. Cross, 427 S.C. 465, 832 S.E.2d 281 (2019) (see Brief of Petitioner at 16-17). The object of concern in Cross was the introduction of a prior conviction where it was an element of the crime, which is not here at issue, and which could in no way, shape, or form illuminate the *res gestae* of the acts charged. To the extent Cross represents anything of concern to the present case, it only reflects the last decade's swing of scales of justice to the favor of extraordinary caution in child sex abuse cases, at the cost prosecutorial confidence in how to prosecute such cases.

What Tyler condemns as a prosecution “for who he is” is more accurately a prosecution of the undivided whole of his criminal conduct, each part properly illuminated by each other part, all of which revolves around his efforts to obtain the pictures, attention, and affections necessary to satisfy his sexual predilection for young girls. Counsel correctly concluded he had no basis to demand severance, such that the PCR court correctly concluded Tyler was not entitled to relief.

1. *Other jurisdictions have permitted joinder of prosecutions for child molestation and child pornography, recognizing the inherently close relationship between the crimes, the motive common between them, and the simplicity of the crimes such that jurors can readily distinguish the evidence to prove each crime.*

In considering whether charges for child pornography and child molestation (and efforts thereto) should be tried together, multiple federal jurisdictions—with a mind to the close relationship between the crimes—have concluded they should. In United States v. Reynolds, a thirteen-year-old girl reported that she had been sexually abused by the thirty-four-year-old Reynolds, the father of one of her classmates. 720 F.3d 665, 668 (8th Cir. 2013). Reynolds was arrested, and during interrogation made multiple admissions. Id. At trial, Reynolds was prosecuted not only for his actions with respect to the eleven-year-old girl, but an additional eleven-year-old girl and a seventeen-year-old girl: the former, Reynolds' niece, testified he

inappropriately touched her, and the latter testified to swapping pornographic pictures with Reynolds over the internet. Id. at 668-69. Reynolds' motion to sever the charge relating to the seventeen-year-old was denied, and on appeal he argued the denial was error because the count was not of a similar character and not part of a common scheme or plan. Id. at 669. The Eighth Circuit disagreed:

The court properly determined counts two, three, and four "are of the same or similar character." The charges of enticement of a minor to engage in illicit sexual activities, receiving child pornography, and production of child pornography 'are of the same or similar character' because they show Reynolds' predisposition to abnormal sexual attraction and tend to rebut the claim that Reynolds was trapped into receiving child pornography. This abnormal sexual attraction is not limited to Reynolds' production and possession of child pornography, but also includes his desire to engage in sexual activities with female minors.

Id. at 669-70. The Eighth Circuit affirmed the conviction.

In United States v. Hersh, the defendant Hersh was convicted in a single trial for various counts of sex trafficking minors, conspiracy to sex trafficking minors, receiving child pornography, and other violations of federal law. 297 F.3d 1233, 1236-39 (11th Cir. 2002). Before and during trial, Hersh moved to sever his child pornography charges from the others, but was denied. Id. at 1239. On appeal, Hersh argued that joinder of the pornography charges to the others was error because they were distinct in subject and in time, and because there was no evidentiary overlap between them. Id. at 1241. After explaining the preference in the federal rules for joinder, the Eleventh Circuit explained the inherently close character of child pornography and the sexual exploitation of minors: "Collectively, the counts charge Hersh with child molestation and child pornography—which plainly represent acts of 'similar character' involving the extraordinary mistreatment of children. In fact, both Congress and the courts have

acknowledged a link between these two offenses.” Id. at 1242.<sup>4</sup> The Eleventh Circuit then held the charged offenses were properly joined, and further rejected Hersh’s contention that “the stigma of the child pornography charges must have impacted the jury’s verdict[.]” Id. at 1242-43.

Our neighbors in the Georgia Court of Appeals, in Dickerson v. State, also recently considered whether denial of severance was appropriate where the defendant was charged with both child molestation and child pornography charges. 697 S.E.2d 874 (Ga. Ct. App. 2010). Dickerson was charged with three counts of aggravated child molestation, three counts of aggravated sexual battery, and two counts of sexual exploitation of children. Id. at 876. Upon Dickerson’s motion to sever, the State noted that the pornography included images which reflected the acts Dickerson was alleged to have committed against his daughter, and “further denominated similarities between the crimes to show a common motive, plan, scheme, or bent of mind pattern.” Id. The Georgia Court found severance was not mandatory, and further held Dickerson “failed to show either that severance was absolutely necessary to promote a just determination of guilt or innocence as to each offense or that the jury was unable to intelligently judge each offense due to the failure to sever.” Id. The Georgia Court noted that “the evidence

---

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